ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Charleston County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

DEC 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

REGINALD L. GORDON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002555  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in finding Appellant's statement to law enforcement was voluntary where the interrogating officer failed to disclose his extramarital affair with the mother of Appellant's co-defendant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 7, 2013, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2013-GS-10-5815) and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2013-GS-10-5816). R. 681-682; 684-685. The state, represented by Bruce Durant, called the case for trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper and a jury on November 17-20, 2014.<sup>1</sup> Michael DeTreville represented Appellant. R. 8. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 672, line 12 – R. 673, line 8. Judge Cooper sentenced Appellant to thirty years' imprisonment for murder and five years' imprisonment for the firearm. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 676, lines 1-14; R. 683; 686.

Appellant filed a notice of appeal. This brief now follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Honorable Roger Young granted Appellant a continuance on July 18, 2014 to investigate the role of a detective in the case in light of the state's recent disclosure that the detective was involved in a sexual relationship with Appellant's co-defendant's mother. R. 1-8.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 17, 2012, Domonique Grant, her younger sister, and several of her friends went to the Purple Mirage, a nightclub in Charleston. R. 98, lines 2-4; R. 99, lines 1-22. Appellant and his friends, including Derrick “Scrappy” Brown, also enjoyed the evening at the nightclub. R. 137, line 12 – R. 138, line 1; R. 143, lines 13-15; R. 213, lines 12-15. Some of the patrons argued. R. 138, lines 16-19; R. 155, lines 20-23; R. 156, lines 2-5; R. 158, lines 13-20; R. 165, line 22 – R. 166, line 10; R. 213, lines 16-21. Darnell Chaplin, Appellant’s cousin, “got into a little scuffle with some males from downtown.” R. 140, lines 20-25; R. 146, lines 2-18; R. 142, lines 14-20.

When the Purple Mirage closed, many, including Appellant and Grant, went to Frazier’s, a nightclub in Ravenel. R. 101, lines 15-22; R. 133, lines 8-15; R. 142, lines 21-24; R. 143, lines 16-17; R. 215, lines 11-13. Lionel “Tootie” Blair claimed that Appellant and others approached him at Frazier’s asking if he had been at Purple Mirage. A verbal argument ensued between Tootie and the group, which was quickly resolved by one of the artists performing at the club. R. 169, line 1 – R. 170, line 17.

Around 4 a.m., Grant, her sister, and her friend went to the friend’s car to leave. Grant had agreed to drive her friend’s car because her friend was too intoxicated. R. 103, line 9 – R. 104, line 20; R. 125, lines 2-7. Tootie walked Grant to her car as he continued his evening-long attempt to woo her. R. 104, line 21 – R. 105, line 17; R. 123, lines 9-15; R. 125, lines 11-25; R. 171, line 22 – R. 173, line 3.

Although Tootie claimed he was standing at the driver’s side window talking to Grant when the shooting started, his prior statement to police and the testimony of others indicated he was standing behind the car or on the passenger side. R. 131, line 8 – R.

132, line 8; R. 173, line 19 – R. 174, line 19; R. 184, lines 18-24. In fact, Grant's sister, who was sitting in the backseat behind Grant, said the shooting started two to three minutes after Grant closed the driver's side door and Tootie walked away. R. 106, lines 8-11; R. 111, lines 7-14. During the shooting, the car's owner opened the passenger door and crawled out. Tootie met her on the side and told her to get back into the car. R. 126, lines 18-25. Tootie was crawling on his hands and knees around the back of the car to the passenger side. R. 127, lines 1-11; R. 176, lines 1-4. Tootie then ran from the scene. R. 177, lines 6-10.

After approximately six shots were fired, the group realized Grant had been shot. R. 107, lines 3-17; R. 127, lines 15-20; R. 176, lines 5-12. Grant's sister saw someone wearing all black running around the back of Frazier's immediately after the shooting. R. 107, lines 18-25.<sup>2</sup>

The Charleston County Sherriff's Office received the call for help at 4:03 a.m. on August 18, 2012. The first officer arrived at the scene at 4:14 a.m. R. 82, lines 3-24; R. 83, lines 8-15. Emergency Medical Services arrived and pronounced Grant dead at the scene. R. 88, lines 2-5. Although a large crowd had gathered around the incident location, none claimed to have seen the shooting and no one could provide the name of the shooter, including Grant's sister who was sitting in the back seat at the time of the shooting. R. 88, lines 12-14; R. 93, lines 4-14; R. 106, lines 21-23; R. 127, lines 12-14; R. 177, lines 15-16.

A short distance from Frazier's, but in the city's jurisdiction, there was a fight between Appellant and others at a gas station around 4:10 a.m. on August 18, 2012. R.

228, lines 2-19; R. 247, lines 16-25. Appellant was not at the store when the police arrived. R. 229, lines 4-6. However, he returned shortly and the officer intercepted him. Appellant was not charged with any crime relating to the fight at the gas station. R. 234, lines 18-19; R. 237, lines 8-9.

The police found an unlocked, abandoned car at the gas station, which they connected to Appellant through Juwan "Rambo" Smalls. R. 229, lines 7-20; R. 254, lines 2-4. According to Smalls, he "rented" the car from its owner in exchange for crack. Further, Smalls claimed that he left the rented car in Appellant's possession after leaving Frazier's. R. 212, line 10 – R. 217, line 24. Inside the car, the police found a handgun. R. 229, lines 21-24; R. 238, lines 12-22. According to forensic testing, a shell casing found at the shooting scene outside of Frazier's was fired by the handgun. R. 417, lines 12-24. The officer had the car towed to a private towing yard. R. 241, lines 24-25. Later, the car was released to the owner. Days later, the Sheriff's Office seized the car, but found no physical evidence connecting the car to Appellant. R. 351, line 19 – R. 358, line 25.

---

<sup>2</sup> It was undisputed that on the night of Grant's death, Scrappy was wearing all black and that Appellant was wearing a yellow shirt. R. 155, lines 1-9; R. 158, lines 9-12.

## ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in finding Appellant's statement to law enforcement voluntary where the interrogating officer failed to disclose his extramarital affair with the mother of Appellant's co-defendant.

### **Relevant facts**

#### *Pretrial hearing testimony*

Mitch Wilson, with the Charleston County Sheriff's Department, was the lead detective in the case involving Grant's death. R. 11, lines 12-14. On September 1, 2012, Wilson learned that Appellant had been arrested by the Charleston Police Department on an unrelated charge.<sup>3</sup> He removed Appellant from the jail and attempted to interrogate him at his office, but Appellant refused to waive his rights to silence and counsel. R. 11, line 20 – R. 12, line 7; R. 14, lines 7-13; R. 678. On November 10, 2012, Wilson attempted to interrogate Appellant again regarding Grant's death. At that time, Appellant was being interviewed by the sheriff's office regarding the death of a member of his family. Wilson's supervisor suggested that Wilson attempt to interrogate Appellant again despite his earlier invocation. R. 14, line 22 – R. 15, line 17. Once again, Appellant invoked his constitutional rights. R. 16, lines 15-19; R. 679.

However, on February 13, 2013, Appellant was arrested for murder in connection with the death of Grant. R. 17, lines 4-7. Wilson did not attempt to speak to Appellant again. R. 17, lines 8-11. Nevertheless, former Detective Charles Lawrence, alone, interrogated Appellant. R. 17, line 12 – R. 18, line 18. Lawrence claimed his

---

<sup>3</sup> At the time, Appellant had not been charged with murder or any crime relating to the death of Grant. R. 12, lines 5-7.

interrogation of Appellant was at the request of Appellant's mother. R. 19, line 22 – R. 20, line 6. According to Lawrence, Appellant's sister said "her brother knew more about the information than what he was saying." R. 20, lines 9-13. Lawrence had Appellant transported from the jail to the sheriff's office. Thereafter, Lawrence permitted Appellant and his sister to talk for about ten minutes. Then, Appellant's sister indicated Appellant "was ready to talk to" Lawrence. R. 20, line 18-23.

Lawrence advised Appellant of his rights, and Appellant waived his rights. R. 21, line 6 – R. 23, line 22; R. 677. Lawrence's subsequent interrogation of Appellant was captured on video. State's Exhibit #58. During the interview, Appellant made numerous references to an individual nicknamed "Scrappy." In fact, Appellant revealed that Scrappy had shot Grant.<sup>4</sup> Lawrence indicated he knew Scrappy was Derrick Brown's nickname. He also knew Scrappy's family. R. 25, line 15 – R. 26, line 7; R. 46, lines 7-22.

During the pretrial hearing, Lawrence was forced to reveal that he was investigated by the Charleston County Sheriff's Department for engaging in a sexual relationship with Scrappy's mother. R. 26, lines 13-18. In fact, Lawrence lied about the relationship during the investigation. R. 26, lines 19-25. Lawrence and Scrappy's mother colluded to create a false timeline of their relationship during the internal investigation. R. 27, line 21 – R. 28, line 3; R. 28, lines 10-16; R. 34, line 23 – R. 35, line 3. Despite Lawrence's protestations that he was not sure when his sexual

---

<sup>4</sup> Scrappy was arrested for murder following Appellant's statement. At the time of Appellant's trial in November 2014, the charges were still pending. R. 40, lines 13-21; R. 485, lines 16-18. However, the charges were dismissed by the prosecutor in December 2014 according to the Charleston County Clerk of Court's records.

relationship with Scappy's mother started and his testimony that "[t]here was no relationship" in October 2012 when Scappy was arrested on unrelated charges, the Sheriff's Department's investigation revealed Lawrence was engaged in an illicit affair with Scappy's mother when Scappy was arrested in October 2012, which was about three months before he interrogated Appellant. R. 27, lines 9-10; R. 28, lines 4-9; R. 29, lines 11-16; R. 30, line 23 – R. 31, line 12.

Lawrence explained why Appellant and Appellant's mother would trust him more than other detectives. When he was a deputy, he patrolled the area where Appellant and his family lived. Lawrence went "out of the way to make it right for everyone in that area ... [b]ecause number one, it's mostly blacks. ... And [h]e ha[d] to bend the rules a lot of time to try to make it right for the people that a lot of time they feel they're getting unfair treatment." He explained that was all he ever did, but "this came back to bite" him. R. 37, lines 1-9.

Although admitting that he had a conflict of interest during his interrogation of Appellant, Lawrence attempted to justify his conduct by stating that Appellant's mother asked him to interrogate Appellant because she trusted Lawrence and another detective had threatened to lock up Appellant for the rest of his life. R. 31, line 13 – R. 32, line 7.

Appellant testified that he was not aware of the sexual relationship between Lawrence and Scappy's mother when he waived his rights and agreed to speak to Lawrence on February 15, 2013. R. 42, lines 19-25. Further, he testified that if he had known about the illicit affair, he would not have waived his rights and provided a statement to Lawrence. R. 43, lines 11-15.

*Appellant's motion to suppress*

Appellant requested suppression of the statement “under a totality of the circumstances analysis under Jackson v. Denno, [378 U.S. 368 (1964)].” R. 50, lines 10-15. Specifically, Appellant argued “the failure to disclose a conflict of interest by the interrogating officer is tantamount to a misrepresentation by that police officer; by not saying that ‘I’m telling you that I don’t have a conflict of interest.’” R. 50, lines 16-22. Further, Appellant explained that “[p]olice misrepresentations are certainly one of the areas ... under Jackson v. Denno, [378 U.S. 368 (1964)] that can cause a statement to be suppressed. To make a finding that the statement was not given freely and voluntarily or that [Appellant] did not intelligently, knowingly and intelligently [*sic*] waive his rights.” R. 50, line 23 – R. 51, line 5. Appellant continued that Lawrence was aware of his conflict of interest, but failed to disclose it, thereby creating an active misrepresentation. R. 51, lines 11-21. Thus, Appellant argued that “[u]nder the totality of the circumstances ... [Appellant] was deprived of the ability to make a knowing and intelligent decision regarding waiver of his rights.” R. 51, line 22 – R. 52, line 1. “[E]ssentially ... his will was overcome ... that he was not able to freely and voluntarily give a statement to Detective Lawrence; that he would not have done so had he been aware of all the facts and circumstances existing at the time.” R. 52, lines 1-10.

The state argued that Appellant “was advised of his rights” and “he understood his rights.” The state also relied upon the two prior occasions during which Appellant was advised of his rights and invoked his rights to support its argument that Appellant understood his rights. R. 52, lines 12-20. Noting the video of the interrogation, the state argued Appellant “was not coerced, not threatened, there was nothing in there but him

falling all over himself trying to give somebody else up for this murder.” R. 52, lines 21-25. More to the point, the state argued that Lawrence’s failure to disclose his sexual relationship with Scrappy’s mother was not a misrepresentation at all because Scrappy was arrested as a result of the interrogation. R. 53, lines 6-16.

On this point, the judge expressed his view that Scrappy’s arrest following Appellant’s statement “would tend ... to negate [Appellant]’s argument of accusing - - if the witness here had not accused him, Detective Lawrence’s friend, resulting in the indictment of her son, I don’t see the conflict.” R. 53, line 25 – R. 54, line 5. Appellant argued that “from the moment that Scrappy is mentioned in this statement, so to speak, would have been an appropriate time for Detective Lawrence to disclose to [Appellant] that ... or stop the interview.” R. 54, line 21 – R. 55, line 4. Appellant noted the large number detectives employed by Charleston County Sheriff’s Office and their availability to interview Appellant in Lawrence’s stead. R. 55, lines 5-21.

*The judge’s ruling*

The trial judge agreed “that would have been good judgment on Detective Lawrence’s part.” However, the judge determined Lawrence’s failure to disclose his relationship with Scrappy’s mother did not affect the voluntariness of Appellant’s statement. R. 55, line 22 – R. 56, line 4. The judge noted that he had considered the evidence offered by the state and found “that before the alleged statement was obtained, [Appellant] was fully advised of his rights under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments of the Constitution of the United States.” He found Appellant was advised of his rights on three separate occasions. R. 56, line 5 – R. 57, line 23. He concluded Appellant “knowingly and intelligently waived his rights under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the

Constitution of the United States and the Constitutional safeguards required by Miranda v. Arizona, [384 U.S. 436 (1966)], as evidenced by the fact that on two occasions he refused to answer any questions after being advised of his rights.” R. 57, line 24 – R. 58, line 6. He continued: “the alleged statement obtained from [Appellant] was freely and voluntarily given without duress, without coercion, without undue influence, without reward, without promise or hope of reward, without promise of leniency, without threat of injury.” The judge opined that he did not see “anything in that statement that made [him] think that he was under any compulsion or misrepresentation or anything else.” R. 58, lines 7-24; R. 59, lines 2-4. Thus, he held the statement was admissible. R. 59, lines 5-8.

#### *Trial testimony*

Before the jury, Lawrence confirmed that he interrogated Appellant on February 15, 2013. R. 477, lines 5-10. He claimed that Appellant’s mother requested the interrogation because another investigator had threatened to lock up Appellant “all of his life.” R. 477, lines 11-18. Lawrence claimed that Appellant’s sister arrived at the sheriff’s office, stating Appellant knew more than he was saying and requesting to speak with him. Lawrence permitted the two to speak. R. 478, lines 1-17. When Appellant’s sister left, Lawrence entered the interrogation room. He advised Appellant of his rights, and Appellant agreed to speak with him. R. 478, line 18 – R. 479, line 2. Thereafter, Appellant’s statement was played for the jury over his objection. R. 483, lines 11-15; R. 488, line 8 – R. 489, line 8.

Lawrence admitted he had engaged in a sexual relationship with Scrappy’s mother, lied about the affair, and was fired due to the relationship and his attempts to

cover up the relationship. R. 483, line 19 – R. 485, line 8; R. 491, lines 2 – 24; R. 493, lines 1-15. However, Lawrence again claimed he was not engaged in a sexual relationship with Scrappy’s mother at the time of Appellant’s arrest for murder. R. 491, line 25 – R. 492, line 15. Again, he was confronted with the findings of the internal investigation that his relationship was on-going at the time of Scrappy’s arrest in October 2012 on an unrelated matter. R. 495, line 4 – R. 498, line 16; R. 680.

Cross-examination revealed that Lawrence had lied to his superior officers previously as well. R. 501, lines 13-22. While he was investigating a missing person’s case, Lawrence informed his supervisor in writing that he had visited the person’s house when he had not done so. He attempted to justify his misrepresentation by noting that he found the missing person and that he was suspended for only one day. R. 502, line 1 – R. 503, line 12.

Lawrence proved himself completely untrustworthy when he lied during his testimony concerning how he found the only piece of physical evidence in the case. Although Grant was shot six times, no shell casings were found at the scene on the night of the shooting. Initially, the officers assumed a revolver was used. R. 346, lines 1-7. When the officers learned from the pathologist that a semi-automatic was likely used, several officers, including Lawrence, returned to the scene to search again on August 20, 2013. R. 507, lines 10-16; R. 509, lines 3-18.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup>When Appellant requested a continuance to investigate the extent of Lawrence’s role in the investigation, the state claimed that “[t]he only thing ... that Detective Lawrence did of note in this case was to conduct the interview of [Appellant] on February 15, 2013; all of which is audio and videotaped.” R. 4, lines 3-9. Further, the state assured the judge that the *only* item of evidence the state intended to introduce through Lawrence was the statement. R. 5, lines 3-6.

Lawrence found the *only* shell casing recovered from the scene. He explained to the jury how he was so fortuitous:

During the interview, if you recall when someone stuck their head in and gave a sheet of paper to me, at which time I was interviewing [Appellant], he showed me a diagram of where the vehicle was in relationship to where he was and where Scrappy was.

And so based on me knowing the area, based on the diagram that [Appellant] gave me, I went to the car, where the car was there. I can see the tinted windows where the glass was on the ground, in the grass. And based on the approximation of the feet that [Appellant] gave me, I started a little further back from that. Then I started coming to the vehicle as to where [Appellant] said that the gunshots came from, at which point in time I was stepping close, with my feet really close together. I stepped on a casing. And as soon as I stepped on it, I notified Sergeant Manigault, who was the senior person out there at that time. And I stepped off of it, at which point it was myself, two investigators and another tech, all witnessed that one casing. I never touched it. Other than that, it was picked up by them and logged into evidence.

R. 509, line 22 – R. 510, line 23.

Inexplicably, Lawrence claimed that on August 20, 2012, when he found the only shell casing recovered from the scene, he was equipped with a diagram from his interrogation of Appellant on February 15, 2013. He again claimed that the portion on the video where someone knocked on the door was when the person gave him a piece of paper, which he used to ask Appellant to explain the scene. R. 519, lines 9-20. When he was confronted with his obvious lie – the interrogation occurred in February of 2013 and the search of the scene occurred in August of 2012, Lawrence responded, “Okay. Okay, yeah.” He added, “I stand corrected.” Nevertheless, he launched into yet another explanation of how he found the shell casing – finding the broken glass from the driver’s side of the car, using the “pattern of the bullets to the window,” knowing the shooter was close based on something an investigator said, and his sixteen years of experience as a

law enforcement officer and military police officer. He was unwilling to call his earlier testimony regarding the diagram a lie, however. He admitted he was wrong, but denied he was lying: “Not a lie but wrong.” R. 519, line 21 – R. 521, line 3.

### **Discussion**

In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966), the United States Supreme Court held “the prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination.” In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.”

To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). In South Carolina, a court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement. The examining court must answer the question: did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant’s will? State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; *police misrepresentations*; isolation of a minor from

his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep.


Id. at 513-514, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (internal citations omitted).

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