ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 15 2015

THE STATE,

SC Court of Appeals
RESPONDENT,

V.

REGINALD L. GORDON,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2014-002555

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Circuit
101 Meeting St., Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843)958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Analysis

Appellant does not complain appropriate *Miranda*³ warnings were not given or that force or intimidation was used to extract Appellant's confession. Rather, Appellant complains the detective violated his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by interrogating him without first disclosing to Appellant all the details of his private life. (IBOA, p. 8, Issue on Appeal). In *Miranda*, the Court set forth safeguards to protect the constitutional rights of persons subjected to custodial police interrogation.

The Supreme Court has long recognized that one may waive one's constitutional rights upon proper warnings:

... we hold that when an individual is taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom by the authorities in any significant way and is subjected to questioning, the privilege against self-incrimination is jeopardized. Procedural safeguards must be employed to protect the privilege and unless other fully effective means are adopted to notify the person of his right of silence and to assure that the exercise of the right will be scrupulously honored, the following measures are required. He must be warned prior to any questioning that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires. Opportunity to exercise these rights must be afforded to him throughout the interrogation. After such warnings have been given, and such opportunity afforded him, the individual may knowingly and intelligently waive these rights and agree to answer questions or make a statement. But unless and until such warnings and waiver are demonstrated by the prosecution at trial, no evidence obtained as a result of interrogation can be used against him.

³ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1996) (establishing procedural safeguard warnings must be given prior to the taking of custodial statements).

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 478-479 (1966). However, establishing whether a defendant received the *Miranda* warnings is only one part of the process to determine the correctness of the waiver – the inquiry is divided into two separate parts:

First, the relinquishment of the right must have been voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception. Second, the waiver must have been made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.

Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986) (emphasis added). *See also Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 445 (“The defendant may waive effectuation of these rights, *provided* the waiver is made voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently.”).

“In South Carolina, the test for determining whether a defendant’s confession was given freely, knowingly, and voluntarily focuses upon whether the defendant’s will was overborne by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession.” *State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct.App. 2010). Factors to consider include “background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep.” *Id.*, 390 S.C. at 513-514, 702 S.E.2d at 401. Other courts have also specifically considered and noted prior interaction with law enforcement and exposure to one’s constitutional rights as points supportive of knowledge and understanding. *See, for example, United States v. Pruden*, 398 F.3d 241, 246 (3rd Cir.

2005) (“Pruden was familiar with his rights, having been involved in the justice system on numerous previous occasions.”); *United States v. Robinson*, 404 F.3d 850, 861 (4th Cir. 2005) (“Robinson had, on two prior occasions, been read his *Miranda* rights and waived them.”). Again, no one point is dispositive: “Only if the ‘totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation’ reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the *Miranda* rights have been waived.” *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. at 421.

Here, Appellant challenges one point – the failure of Detective Lawrence to disclose the identity of his sexual partners to the suspect prior to his interrogation-- as rendering the waiver of rights involuntary. Appellant claims his “will was overcome” and he “was not able to freely and voluntarily give a statement to Detective Lawrence” because he was not aware of all the facts and circumstances surrounding Lawrence’s private life. (IBOA, p. 11.) Moreover, Appellant argues his statement should be inadmissible because, “[w]hat Appellant and his family did not know was that Lawrence’s loyalties were with his paramour and her son, the shooter. In continuing the interrogation, Lawrence actively misrepresented the situation to Appellant.” (IBOA, p. 17.) Appellant erroneously suggests law enforcement’s loyalties would ordinarily remain with the suspect. In fact, the very nature of the *Miranda* warning is for the purpose of informing the suspect the police are not his fiduciaries. Detective Lawrence had no loyalty or duty to disclose his private life to Appellant.

Coercion as a Necessary Predicate

In *Colorado v. Connelly*, our Supreme Court held the some form of police misconduct in the form of coercion is “a necessary predicate to the finding that a

confession is not “voluntary” within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.” *Colorado v. Connelly* , 479 U.S. 157, 167, (1986). South Carolina courts have faithfully adhered to the bright line holding of *Connelly*. *See, e.g., State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 568, 647 S.E.2d 144,165 (2007) (noting “courts generally do not find a juvenile’s confession involuntary where there is no evidence of extended, intimidating questioning or some other form of coercion.”); *see also State v. Salisbury*, 330 S.C. 250, 272, 498 S.E.2d 655, 666 (Ct. App. 1998) *aff’d as modified*, 343 S.C. 520, 541 S.E.2d 247 (2001) (“Coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to finding a confession is not voluntary within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.”)

In the case at hand, Appellant makes much of Detective’s Lawrence’s tarnished career with the Charleston County Sheriff’s Department, but fails to indicate any coercive conduct whatsoever in the interview with Appellant. Appellant claims he would not have made the statement to Detective Lawrence had he known about the relationship with Brown’s mother, but he fails to indicate why that knowledge would have made a difference. Appellant waived his rights and agreed to speak to Detective Lawrence because he wanted to shift the blame to someone else. Appellant presents no evidence his resulting implication of his co-defendant was ignored or suppressed because of Detective Lawrence’s relationship with Brown’s mother. In fact, Appellant’s statement led to Brown’s arrest for the murder of the victim. While Detective Lawrence may have exercised bad judgement in personal life, which resulted in his termination, there simply was no misconduct related to this interrogation.

Admissibility under the Totality of the Circumstances

As the *Connelly* court made clear, coercion is a necessary predicate to a finding of inadmissibility due to an involuntary waiver of Miranda rights. Appellant has shown no such activity on the part of the police during this interview that constitutes even the slightest degree of coercion. Without evidence of this coercion, Appellant's argument fails. Nevertheless, should the Court desire to examine the second step of waiver analysis, the statement remains admissible.

The trial judge is required to look at the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a suspect has made a knowing and voluntary waiver of his Miranda rights. In this case, the court could consider the following: 1) Appellant certainly had prior experience with law enforcement and the exercise of his Miranda rights. Detective Mitch Wilson testified he attempted to speak with Appellant on two occasions before February 15, 2013, Mirandizing him both times. Appellant refused to talk to Wilson on both occasion. (R. p. 11, line 1-p. 16, line 19.) 2) Appellant was allowed to speak with his sister privately for several minutes before he agreed to talk to Lawrence, suggesting his sister was the compelling force that changed Appellant's mind about cooperating with the detectives. (R. p. 20, lines 18-23.) 3) Appellant was Mirandized and was perfectly capable of understanding his rights. 4) Appellant was not restrained in any way during the questioning. 5) Detective Lawrence was polite and non-threatening in his discourse with Appellant. 6) The questioning lasted only about an hour, so the Appellant was not subjected to a lengthy or prolonged interrogation. 7) Appellant's statements were self-serving. Appellant waived his rights to implicate his co-defendant, erroneously believing he was not culpable for the victim's death as long as he did not admit to being the

triggerman. He even testified at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing he lent Brown the gun he used to shoot Dominique Grant. (R. p. 46, lines 7-18.) Finally, 8) Detective Lawrence did not misrepresent any facts to Appellant. Lawrence had no duty to disclose his sexual relationships with a suspect in a murder investigation. Similarly, Appellant had no expectation of some sort of fiduciary relationship with the investigating officer of a homicide for which he was responsible.

The trial judge had more than sufficient evidence to conclude from the totality of the circumstances Appellant made a knowing and voluntary waiver of his Miranda rights when he gave his statement to Detective Lawrence on February 15, 2013. The detective's indiscretions and dishonesty predictably resulted in his termination from employment from the sheriff's department. However, Appellant now seeks to capitalize on this indiscretion without showing any connection between the relationship with Brown's mother and the voluntariness of Appellant's statement. Appellant asks this Court to ignore the self-serving interest of the statement and ignore the obvious conclusion that Lawrence, if he were inclined to be corrupt, would have suppressed the statement to protect his paramour's son. The argument makes no sense, and Appellant should not be granted an evidentiary windfall simply because Detective Lawrence was having an affair.

Harmless Error

Even if, as Appellant argues, his statement was admitted in violation of *Miranda*, its admission was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In *Chapman v. California*, the Supreme Court held error of even constitutional magnitude may be deemed harmless if, "considering the entire record on appeal, the reviewing court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict." 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17

L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); *see also Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 181, 439 S.E.2d 820, 821 (1993). Similarly, in *State v. Easler*, our Supreme Court intimated that any error in the failure to suppress a statement allegedly taken in violation of *Miranda* is subject to a harmless error analysis. 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621–22 (1997); *see also State v. Newell*, 303 S.C. 471, 477, 401 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct.App.1991) (finding failure to suppress evidence for *Miranda* violation harmless where record contained overwhelming evidence of guilt); *State v. Lynch*, 375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 296 (Ct.App.2007) (“The failure to suppress evidence for possible *Miranda* violations is harmless if the record contains sufficient evidence to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”)

Here, considering the entire record on appeal, any error in admitting Appellant’s statements to detectives on February 15, 2013, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The State presented compelling evidence of Appellant’s guilt of murder: Appellant brought his gun with him and left it in the car the night of the murder. (R. p. 213, lines 2-15.) Appellant initiated the altercation with Lionel Blair, the suspected target of the shooting, earlier in the evening at Frasier’s. (R. p. 169, lines 6-25.) Appellant was identified in a white Buick within fifteen minutes and five miles of the shooting at a gas station nearby. (R. p. 264, line 14- p.266, line 23.) Police officers investigating the fight at the gas station found the murder weapon inside the Buick. (R. p. 227, line 10 – p. 229, line 25.) Appellant had the motive to kill Lionel Blair, and he was in possession of the murder weapon within minutes of the crime.

The State’s case against Appellant was compelling. Even excluding Appellant’s statement to police, the record supports the jury’s verdict of murder beyond of reasonable doubt. Any error in its admission by the trial court judge was harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.